ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

RECEIVED

V.

OCT 03 2017

SC Court of Appeals

LEE DELL BRADLEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001519

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

In this murder case where appellant admitted his girlfriend died during an argument, did the trial court err in admitting evidence of appellant's nearly two-year-old conviction for domestic violence where this evidence was inadmissible as character evidence and it was more unfairly prejudicial than probative because of its remoteness?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting the irrelevant, highly prejudicial testimony of an expert in "the impact of trauma, domestic violence" who testified that a woman's risk of being murdered increases if a woman prepares to leave her abuser?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 28, 2016, a Berkeley County grand jury indicted appellant Lee Dell Bradley for murder. R. 569 – 570. On July 11, 2016, appellant was tried before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson and a jury. R. 1. Anne M. Williams and Wilton H. McNeely represented the State. R. 1. Debra K. Littlejohn and Keisha V. White represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 539, l. 14 – 540, l. 6. Judge Jefferson sentenced appellant to life imprisonment. R. 549, ll. 19 – 25. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

In this murder case where appellant admitted his girlfriend died during an argument, the trial court erred in admitting evidence of appellant's nearly two-year-old conviction for domestic violence where this evidence was inadmissible as character evidence and the conviction was more unfairly prejudicial than probative because of its remoteness.

Factual and Procedural Background

Lee Dell Bradley ("Bradley") told the police that his girlfriend died by accident during an argument. (State's Ex. 69, 71). Bradley and Frances Lawrence ("Lawrence") lived together. R. 136, ll. 3 – 4. On May 23, 2014, Bradley called 911. R. 23, l. 19 – 24, l. 11. Bradley told the 911 operator that he and Lawrence got into a fight the night before. (State's Ex. 69). Lawrence grabbed a knife and tried to stab Bradley. (State's Ex. 69). He tried to take the knife from her. (State's Ex. 69). She fell on the knife and it entered her chest, killing her. (State's Ex. 69). Bradley described it as "a freak accident." (State's Ex. 69).

Bradley told the operator the address. (State's Ex. 69). He did not call for an ambulance when Lawrence fell on the knife because he was scared. (State's Ex. 69). The operator told Bradley to stay on the phone, but the call was disconnected. (State's Ex. 69). Bradley was arrested in North Carolina on May 29, 2014, and waived extradition to South Carolina. R. 374, ll. 4 – 19.

The police interviewed Bradley after they brought him to South Carolina. R. 68, l. 12 – 71, l. 12. The interview was recorded. R. 76, ll. 5 – 22. (State's Ex. 71). Bradley told the police the same thing he told the 911 operator—that Lawrence fell during a struggle and the knife accidentally went into her chest. (State's Ex. 71). Lawrence threatened to kill him.

(State's Ex. 71). After Bradley defended himself from Lawrence lunging at him with the knife, she slipped on a blue rug in the doorway to their bathroom. (State's Ex. 71). Bradley admitted their relationship had its "ups and downs" and that Lawrence thought he was having an affair. (State's Ex. 71).

Before trial, Bradley filed a written motion to exclude prior bad acts. R. 550 – 553. Appellant anticipated that the State would try to introduce evidence of prior domestic violence calls to Lawrence and Bradley's house. R. 550 – 553. Appellant argued that the evidence was not relevant except to show his propensity to commit the crime and was inadmissible under Rule 404 and State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 606 S.E.2d 508 (Ct. App. 2004). R. 550 – 553. The trial judge refused to hear any proffer or argument on appellant's motion before trial and explained that she would take the matter up *in camera* during the trial. R. 6, l. 17 – 7, l. 5.

Before Officer Stacey Cross ("Cross") took the stand, the solicitor advised the court that she intended to introduce the prior domestic violence incidents "in the midst of her testimony." R. 233, ll. 16 – 19. Judge Jefferson told the solicitor to stop when that point arrived so that she could "take it up *in camera*." R. 233, ll. 20 - 21.

Officer Cross testified that she was dispatched to the residence on the day Bradley called 911 to report Lawrence's death. R. 235, l. 25 – 236, l. 23. She entered the house with two other officers. R. 238, ll. 1 – 15. They found Lawrence on the bathroom floor and Officer Cross described the scene. R. 239, l. 11 – 3. The solicitor then told Judge Jefferson there was an issue of law and the jury was sent out of the courtroom. R. 240, ll. 7 – 16.

The State then proffered Officer Cross's testimony about two other times she went to the residence. R. 240, l. 21 – 241, l. 7. Officer Cross responded to domestic violence calls in 2009 and 2012. R. 241, ll. 12 – 15. The trial judge ultimately excluded evidence related to the 2009

call as too remote, but admitted Officer Cross's testimony about the 2012 incident. R. 269, l. 11 – 276, l. 6.

During the proffer of the 2012 incident, Officer Cross stated she responded to Bradley and Lawrence's residence and Lawrence was outside. R. 244, ll. 2 – 13. Bradley was in the house sleeping. R. 244, ll. 6 – 13. Lawrence was afraid to go inside of the house and claimed Bradley slapped her. R. 244, l. 6 – 245, l. 6. Bradley told Lawrence that if she called the police, he would kill her. R. 245, l. 16 – 246, l. 1. The police arrested Bradley for criminal domestic violence. R. 245, ll. 4 – 6. On cross-examination, the officer admitted Lawrence had no injuries. R. 249, ll. 8 – 11.

At the conclusion of the proffer, appellant argued that these prior bad acts were inadmissible under Rule 404(b) and State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). R. 252, l. 19 – 257, l. 4. Defense counsel stated, "It is nothing more than the State trying to introduce prior crimes of bad acts to prove a propensity." R. 252, ll. 21 – 23. Appellant argued the applicability of Sweat. R. 253, l. 2 – 255, l. 9. Appellant pointed out the evidence had no logical relevancy to any material fact at issue and was only offered to show Bradley's propensity to act in conformity with his prior conduct. R. 255, l. 6 – 256, l. 23. Finally, appellant argued the evidence was too remote and more unfairly prejudicial than probative. R. 256, l. 1 – 257, l. 4. The State claimed it was offering the prior bad acts to rebut "the claim of accident." R. 257, ll. 7 – 16.

The trial judge initially indicated that the 2012 incident was too remote. R. 266, ll. 7 – 16. The solicitor asked to introduce evidence that Bradley was convicted of criminal domestic violence for the 2012 incident through the clerk of court. R. 266, l. 17 – 269, l. 9. After taking a recess to consider the matter, Judge Jefferson returned to the bench and ruled that Officer Cross could testify about the 2012 incident. R. 269, l. 10 – 276, l. 6. The court found the evidence fell

within the Lyle exception to rebut accident. R. 269, l. 10 – 276, l. 6. The trial judge told the solicitor she expected the State to introduce evidence of Bradley’s guilty plea. R. 269, l. 10 – 276, l. 6. The court also found Officer Cross’s testimony was

. . . logically relevant to this incident, and for the jury to have a full picture of the nature of the relationship that existed between the defendant and the deceased, and in connection with the conviction, it does more than being an incidental reference to something that would need to be proven, and it rises above what would be considered just in the nature of character evidence.

R. 271, ll. 4 – 11. After, defense counsel attempted to mitigate the ruling regarding evidence of Bradley’s conviction, the trial judge interrupted, ordered the jury brought into the courtroom, and stated, “Your objection is always preserved.” R. 273, l. 12 – 276, l. 6.

Before the jury, Officer Cross testified that she responded to Bradley and Lawrence’s house in September 2012 for a domestic violence call. R. 276, l. 7 – 277, l. 1. Lawrence was “whispering. . . . visibly shaken. . . . upset, crying.” R. 277, ll. 17 – 19. Bradley was in the home. R. 277, ll. 20 – 21. The police arrested Bradley. R. 278, ll. 10 – 13. The next witness was an employee from the clerk of court’s office. R. 279, ll. 13 – 24. The clerk testified that Bradley had a conviction from 2012 for criminal domestic violence. R. 280, l. 15 – 281, l. 20. Lawrence’s sisters testified that Lawrence told them she was going to move, had begun packing her things, and obtained a phone with a number that Bradley did not know. R. 156, l. 25 – 157, l. 16. R. 216, l. 2 – 217, l. 3. As will be discussed in more detail in Issue 2 of this brief, the State’s final witness was a purported expert on domestic violence who testified that a woman’s risk of being murdered by an abuser increases if she attempts to leave. R. 421, l. 20 – 425, l. 13.

During her closing argument, the solicitor told the jury that Bradley “can not show this woman any respect,” and then asked, “But what does it tell you about Lee Bradley?” R. 459, ll. 18 – 23. The solicitor answered her own question:

There's only two people there when he murdered her; this is true. But what can you tell about the way he behaved toward her during the murder. **Look at the way he treated her when she was alive.** Look at the way he treated her and talks about her after she is dead. There is no statement where he says anything with affection or respect about this woman.

R. 459, l. 24 – 460, l. 5 (emphasis added). When the solicitor addressed the defense of accident during her closing, she never mentioned the 2012 incident. R. 465, l. 8 – 466, l. 11.

Discussion

The evidence of the 2012 incident was wrongfully admitted because it proved only Bradley's propensity to kill Lawrence. This evidence was inadmissible under Rule 404(a) and (b) and South Carolina's Lyle jurisprudence. The nearly two year-old incident was also too remote to be admitted and the unfair prejudice that the jury would convict appellant because he was a bad person outweighed its negligible probative value. Rule 403, 404, SCRE.

By its plain text, Rule 404 is primarily a rule of exclusion. Rule 404, SCRE. The rule's title says, "Character evidence not admissible to prove conduct." Rule 404(a), SCRE. Rule 404(a) begins with the premise that, "Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion. . . ." Rule 404(a), SCRE. If the State's purpose in offering the evidence was to prove that because Bradley's past abuse of Lawrence meant he had a bad character and made it more likely that he murdered her, then Rule 404(a) bars its admission.

Rule 404(b) begins by repeating the bar on propensity evidence. Rule 404(b), SCRE. The rule states, "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith." Rule 404(b), SCRE. The State contended, and the trial judge agreed, that the 2012 incident fell into Rule 404(b)'s exception to prove absence of accident. Rule 404(b), SCRE. The trial judge held the 2012

incident “rises above what would be considered just in the nature of character evidence.” R. 271, ll. 4 – 11.

Nothing about the 2012 incident bore on the issue of accident. The pathologist’s testimony about the angle and shape of the wound is the type of evidence that tends to disprove accident. R. 346, l. 15 – 350, l. 15. A nearly two year-old altercation between romantically involved partners bears no logical connection to whether Lawrence slipped and fell on the knife or Bradley stabbed her. The only logical inference that can be drawn is the one forbidden by Rule 404: Bradley abused her before, so he must have killed her this time. In his statement, Bradley freely admitted they had a heated argument and that Lawrence thought he was seeing another woman. Had Bradley claimed that Lawrence slipped in the kitchen while cooking and fell on the knife, then the prior incident would gain some marginal relevancy. But under the circumstances of this case, the 2012 domestic violence conviction was propensity evidence.

As argued by trial counsel, the 2012 conviction was also too remote and therefore more unfairly prejudicial than probative. State v. Brooks, 341 S.C. 57, 62, 533 S.E.2d 325, 328 (2000) (holding that even if a prior bad act falls under a Lyle exception, “it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant.”). In the case cited to the trial judge, the prior domestic violence conviction that was admitted occurred, as a practical matter, eleven days before the charged crime. State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 130, 606 S.E.2d 508, 515 (Ct. App. 2004). In Sweat, the defendant was arrested for criminal domestic violence in October and stayed in jail until December. Id. Eleven days after he was released, he assaulted the victims. Id. The Court noted that the trial judge excluded other instances of domestic violence. Id. at 122, 606 S.E.2d at 511. Even the practically eleven day-

old incident which was admitted the court called “not strictly necessary to the State’s case.” Id. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 514.

Another case with similar facts demonstrates that Bradley’s conviction was too remote. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 522 S.E.2d 598 (1999). In Smith, the defendant was charged with murder after shooting at his wife and hitting his infant daughter after an argument. Id. at 29, 522 S.E.2d at 599. The defendant’s wife told the police immediately after the incident that he got mad, shot at her, and had threatened to kill both of them. Id. at 29-30, 522 S.E.2d at 599. At trial, the defendant’s wife recanted. Id. She testified that the defendant was unloading his pistol and the shooting was accidental. Id.

The State sought the admission of four prior criminal domestic violence convictions “to establish appellant’s state of mind at the time of the shooting and to rebut his claim of accident.” Id. at 31-32, 522 S.E.2d at 600. The shooting occurred in October 1996 and the trial court only admitted one of the four convictions—from July 1996—and the Supreme Court affirmed. Id.

In Smith, the length of time between the prior conviction and the shooting was three months. Id. Here, almost two years had passed since Bradley’s conviction. The remoteness of Bradley’s conviction lessens any probative value and increases its unfair prejudice. Furthermore, the circumstances of the claimed accident made the prior conviction in Smith far more relevant than this case. In Smith, the accident claimed at trial was divorced from any argument or struggle. It was an accidental firing of a pistol. Here, the State’s evidence included appellant’s statement admitting the couple had an argument and there was a struggle over the knife. The remote prior conviction was not logically relevant to the circumstances of this accidental death. In this close case where the jury deliberated overnight and asked to be recharged on the law, this error requires reversal. R. 529, l. 21 – 539, l. 13.

2.

The trial court erred in admitting the irrelevant, highly prejudicial testimony of an expert in “the impact of trauma, domestic violence” who testified that a woman’s risk of being murdered increases if a woman prepares to leave her abuser.

Lawrence’s sisters testified that Lawrence told them she was going to move, had begun packing her things, and obtained a phone with a number that Bradley did not know. R. 156, l. 25 – 157, l. 16. R. 216, l. 2 – 217, l. 3. As its last witness in this trial, the State called a psychologist and qualified her as an expert in the “impact of trauma, domestic violence.” R. 417, l. 15 – 422, l. 1. The State’s last question to its last witness was:

Q. What does the research say about the period of time when a woman is getting ready to leave her abuser?

A. **So in domestic violence relationships, when there—there are risk factors for the potential—for future escalation of harm, even homicide. And when there is a—a relationship that is controlling, or there is this other kind of power of dynamics, when a woman is—have left in the past, or in the process of attempting to leave, there is an increased risk of homicide.**

MS. WILLIAMS: Thank you. Nothing further.

R. 425, ll. 4 – 14 (emphasis added). This testimony is purely propensity evidence. As such, it is irrelevant, highly prejudicial, and should have been excluded.

Before the psychologist testified, appellant objected to the entirety of her testimony. R. 408, l. 24 – 413, l. 8. Defense counsel cited Rules 402 and 403 in her argument that the psychologist’s testimony was not relevant, highly prejudicial, and was offered to confuse and mislead the jury. R. 408, l. 24 – 413, l. 8. The State responded that the expert knew more about domestic violence than the average juror and that the jury needed to understand about “periods of time when victims are getting ready to leave, and how violence often escalates in domestic

violence relationships and what that means.” R. 410, l. 1 – 411, l. 7. The solicitor offered the trial judge a misinterpretation of State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013) “and its prodigy” and claimed that the testimony was admissible because the expert would not talk about the specific facts of the case. R. 411, ll. 14 – 21.

The trial judge unfortunately agreed, finding that, “Experts, along this line, are allowed to talk broadly about an issue, but not specifically.” R. 413, ll. 15 – 20. Judge Jefferson stated this evidence is not “problematic. It’s done all the time anymore.” R. 413, l. 24 – 414, l. 1. She said the expert could “educate [the jury] regarding what we have now termed the cycle of domestic violence.” R. 414, ll. 1 – 5. The court further ruled that the evidence was relevant and more probative than prejudicial. R. 414, ll. 17 – 24.

Except for a short restroom break, the psychologist testified immediately after the trial judge’s ruling.¹ R. 413, l. 9 – 417, l. 16.

Rule 402 provides that irrelevant evidence is inadmissible. Rule 402, SCRE. The expert’s testimony is rank propensity evidence with no relevance to the factual issues at trial. The invited inference to the jury is that because women are at a greater statistical risk when preparing to leave their abuser, then appellant must have murdered Lawrence. This inference is not permitted. A defendant must be tried on his guilt or innocence as proven by the evidence at

¹ Appellant anticipates the State will employ a “gotcha” issue preservation red herring in its brief. See Atlantic Coast Builders v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 332-33, 730 S.E.2d 282, 287 (2012) (Toal, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). When the State asked the trial judge to qualify the expert, defense counsel did not object. R. 422, ll. 2 – 12. The State will likely seize on this failure to object and claim it waived appellant’s argument that the entirety of the expert’s testimony was inadmissible. The trial judge heard comprehensive argument that the expert’s testimony was inadmissible, then ruled. No new facts or arguments were necessary, and there was no need to object to qualification if the entire testimony was irrelevant. Furthermore, the trial judge indicated at the end of the trial that she understood the objection was to the entire testimony by stating her opinion that the issue was preserved. R. 543, ll. 8 - 10.

trial, not statistical probabilities. Such evidence has no probative value and is unfairly prejudicial. Rule 403, SCRE.