ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Berkeley County
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-001519**

THE STATE,

vs.

LEE DELL BRADLEY,

Respondent,

RECEIVED

OCT 12 2017

**SC Court of Appeals
Appellant.**

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**SCARLETT ANNE WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting St., Ste. 400

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

A number of other cases have found that prior bad acts occurring more remotely than the year and one-half at issue were not too remote. In *Key*, the defendant was convicted of aggravated assault and battery for shooting the victim in the leg. Over the defendant’s objections that the earlier incidents were irrelevant and lacked similarity to the crime for which he was on trial, the trial judge allowed the State to introduce evidence of the defendant’s repeated threats to shoot victim spanning eight before the day of shooting. *Key*, 277 S.C. at 215, 284 S.E. 2d at 782. On appeal, the Supreme Court found that the evidence was “properly admitted to show absence of mistake or accident as well as defendant’s intent.” *Id.* at 215-16, 284 S.E. 2d at 782. In *State v. Blanton*, 316 S.C. 31, 33, 446 S.E.2d 438, 440 (Ct. App. 1994), *as amended* (June 23, 1994), the Court concluded “that the alleged acts perpetrated against the two witnesses occurred some seven to eight years prior to the alleged molestation of J., is not alone dispositive.”¹³ And, the Court concluded in *Scott* that the prior bad acts were not too remote and that the evidence’s probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, even though the prior bad acts occurred “some eleven to twenty years prior to the crimes charged.” *Scott*, 405 S.C. at 509, 748 S.E.2d at 247.

Moreover, the trial judge gave the following limiting instruction in her jury charge:

¹³ In *State v. Hubner*, 362 S.C. 572, 608 S.E.2d 572, 608 S.E.2d 463 (Ct. App. 2005), fourteen years passed between the prior bad act in Maine with a different victim and the charged conduct. The Court of Appeals reversed the convictions and sentence based on dissimilarities in conduct, but the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals opinion, despite the fourteen year gap. *State v. Hubner*, 384 S.C. 436, 683 S.E.2d 279 (2009).

I ... instruct you that *you have heard evidence that the defendant was convicted of a crime*, and/or committed a bad act, not the subject of a conviction, other than the one for which the defendant is now on trial. *This testimony, if you conclude it is true, may only be considered by you on the question of intent and absence of mistake, and for no other reason, and for no other purpose.*

You may give this evidence the weight, value, and effect you decide, if any, which you decide it should have *on the sole issue of intent and absence of mistake. You must not consider evidence of the commission of another offense and/or a bad act, not the subject of a conviction, as proof of the defendant's guilt of the charge we are trying today.*

R. p. 513, lines 8-22 (emphasis added).

Because “[It is] the almost invariable assumption of the law that jurors follow their instructions,” *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 740, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 1781 (1993) (citing *Richardson v. Marsh*, 481 U.S. 200, 206, 107 S.Ct. 1702, 1707 (1987)); *see also Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068 (“a court should presume ... that the judge or jury acted according to law”), the State submits that jurors would have only considered this conviction, to the extent they gave it any weight at all, “on the sole issue of intent and absence of mistake” Under these circumstances, Appellant cannot prove that the prejudicial effect of the 2012 CDV conviction substantially outweighed its prejudicial effect.

Finally, the State submits that even if the trial judge abused her discretion by admitting the 2012 conviction, any error was clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. An insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless where “guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached.” *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). *See also State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601, 611, 646 S.E.2d 872, 877 (2007). And, again, the trial judge’s limiting instruction precluded jurors from considering the conviction on the question of whether or not he murdered Frances Lawrence. Rather, jurors could only consider it, “on the sole issue of intent and absence of mistake.” Also,

the State did not expressly reference existence of the CDV conviction in closing argument. *See Tr. pp. 543-75; R. pp. 457-89.*¹⁴ Moreover, even though this was a circumstantial evidence case, the prosecution's evidence conclusively proved Appellant's guilt beyond any reasonable doubt.

Specifically, the State's evidence showed that:

- Analysis of the victim's fingernail clippings revealed the presence of Appellant's DNA. *R. pp. 324-27;*
- The victim was only about 4'11" tall and she had a variety of health problems in her life. *R. pp. 153; 216-19;*
- The victim told her sister, Dorothy Rivers, on Tuesday morning May 22nd, that she was planning to move and she showed Dorothy some boxes containing some of her belongings, *R. pp. 156-58;*
- The victim likewise told her sister, Cathy Hampton, that she was ready to "move on." *R. pp. 214-15;*
- Dorothy was at the victim's residence on Tuesday, May 20th and described the mood inside the mobile home as "really, really thick." She felt awkward being there, and indicated that the victim was not speaking to Appellant. *R. pp. 153-56;*
- Appellant was smoking crack in the days before the victim's body was found. *R. p. 174;*

¹⁴ The only remarks that even remotely approach a comment on the existence of the conviction are "There's only two people there when he murdered her; this is true. But what can you tell about the way he behaved toward her during the murder. Look at the way he treated her when she was alive. Look at the way he treated her and talks about her after she is dead." *R. p. 459, line 24 – p. 460, line 3.* However, these remarks can also be fairly viewed as referencing testimony from family members who explained the "on again and off again" relationship that the victim had with Appellant. *See Donnelly v. DeChristoforo*, 416 U.S. 637, 647, 94 S.Ct. 1868, 1873 (1974) (a reviewing court "should not lightly infer that a prosecutor intends an ambiguous remark to have its most damaging meaning or that a jury, sitting through lengthy exhortation, will draw that meaning from the plethora of less damaging interpretations"). Mysteriously, Appellant seems to suggest that the absence of any express comment referring to the CDV conviction was somehow prejudicial, even though he surely would have argued that any express reference was prejudicial.

- The victim had acquired new telephone numbers for both her cell phone and her landline. She shared these numbers with her sisters but not with Appellant. *R. p. 216*;
- Although the victim had never previously failed to show for her scheduled shift and it was very unusual for her to miss work, she did not return to work after the morning of Wednesday, May 21st. *R. pp. 48-52; 55-58; 60; 204-06; 208*;
- Because the victim did not show for work, her friend, Mary Jones, called both her home and cell phones on the evenings of Wednesday, May 23rd, and Thursday, May 22nd, but did not get an answer. *R. pp. 204; 208-09*;
- Following the victim's disappearance, Appellant told the victim's sister, Darlene Walker, that Frances was at work and that he had her vehicle in order to get the brakes fixed. In the second conversation, he said that he still had the vehicle because he had to change the oil;
- Following the victim's disappearance, Appellant told her sisters, Dorothy and Darlene, as well as her nephew, Harold Drayton, that the victim's friend Mary had picked her up and that the victim was staying with Mary for several days;
- He also told Dorothy that he was going to leave her vehicle at the bus station on Friday. Mary would then supposedly drive Frances there and she would get her vehicle;
- However, Ms. Jones testified that the only time the victim had ever visited Ms. Jones' home, in Cross, South Carolina, was shortly after Ms. Jones' fiancée had died. *R. pp. 206-07*;
- Appellant, who did not have a car, was seen by several witnesses driving the victim's blue SUV after her disappearance but at a time when he told her family members that she was alive. *R. pp. 138-40; 168-71*;
- After the victim's disappearance, the air conditioning was constantly running, which was something that the victim did not do. *R. pp. 165; 193-95; 235-38*;
- Also, an air freshener can was in the residence, and at least one bathroom window was left open. *R. pp. 192-93; 200*;
- He told Alma Reid that he and the victim had an altercation, in which the victim had retrieved a knife from the kitchen, Appellant pushed her on a chair, and the victim cut her arm;
- When Reid asked Appellant if he called an ambulance, he said, " 'No, it wasn't that serious.' " *R. pp. 109-11; 113-114*;

- In his call from jail (State's Ex. 72), he falsely claimed that he and Frances had been planning to move to a new location, together, and that he had been sending her some of the \$200.00-\$250.00 a day from his job because they had to pay over \$1,200.00 before they could move into "their" new residence;
- The prosecution's evidence was that he was not employed full-time;
- On Thursday night, May 2nd, Appellant went to a gas station on Highway, where he unsuccessfully attempted to withdraw money from an ATM;
- He then went to another gas station that was across the street, where he accessed the ATM, and he had money when he returned to the vehicle. This was witnessed by the victim's nephew, Harold Drayton. *R. pp. 138-40*;
- In his call from the jail, he claimed that he and the victim had a joint bank account, and that he only took his money out of their joint account;
- Yet, the bank records where the victim had an account reflected that she had a checking account that was exclusively in her name, and that only one ATM card was issued for it;
- On May 22nd and 23rd, there were ATM inquiries and withdrawals made at 2895 and 2908 West Fifth St., in Summerville. *R. pp. 127-31; 133*;
- Appellant pretended to have telephone conversation with the victim after her disappearance and, inferably, at a time when she was dead. *R. pp. 175-76*;
- In the days following the victim's disappearance, Appellant gave away food, a grill, a lawn mower, and other items that had belonged to the victim. *E.g., R. pp. 165; 193-95*;
- He did not place a 911 call until Friday morning, even though she had been dead since early Wednesday, May 21st. *State's Ex. 69*;
- He lied to the 911 operator and claimed that she had died on Thursday, the 22nd. *State's Ex. 69*;
- He also lied to the 911 operator about his location when he made the call. He claimed that he was on Highway 78, but his cellphone was using a tower that was off of I-95. *R. pp. 23-24; 40-44; State's Ex. 69*;
- Appellant hung up before the operator could get a more precise location of his whereabouts, and he never called back;

- He never tried to call an ambulance for the victim;
- The State published the 911 call (State's Ex. 69) to the jury;
- The victim's gown did not have any hole or defect that corresponded to the knife wound. So, either she was not wearing the gown or it was pushed up when she was stabbed. *R. pp. 305; 350-52;*
- In his custodial statement (State's Ex. 71), Appellant admitted that he had changed the gown that she was wearing at the time she was killed but no other bloody gown was recovered. *R. p. 305;*
- In his statement to law enforcement (State's Ex. 71), Appellant lied about calling Berkeley County the night after the stabbing;
- He also changed his account of what she said after being stabbed in his statement. He initially claimed that she had simply groaned, but later said that she asked him to hold her and to not call 911;
- In his statement, he also gave two different accounts of how the victim aggressively came at him with a knife and, following a struggle, fell and accidentally died from a self-inflicted wound (State's Ex. 71);
- He likewise claimed in the recorded telephone conversation from the jail (State's Ex. 72) that the killing was the result of a "freak accident," after a struggle the victim started, but he gave a different account to the person with whom he was speaking;
- When the forensic pathologist was asked a hypothetical question encompassing the accidental killing he had described, the pathologist opined that this was "not very likely" to have occurred; she described the unusual manner in which the victim would have had to have been holding the knife in order to match the downward trajectory of the knife wound; and she explained that the natural reflex for someone falling forward is to use the arms to brace for impact. *R. pp. 347-49;*
- His story was inconsistent with the manner she was found, lying on her back. *R. pp. 292-99;*
- His story was also inconsistent with testimony from family members, who described the victim as a peaceful person who would not fight. *R. pp. 156-58; 217-18;*
- Additionally, there were no signs of a struggle in the residence, despite Appellant's claim that one had occurred. *R. pp. 383-84; 386; 388; 407;*

- In fact, nothing of evidentiary value was found at the scene. R. pp. 64-68; 92-94; 98;
- In his statement, he also asserted that the victim had been drinking a lot, taking medication and acting crazy that night;
- Yet, a toxicology analysis of the victim's blood revealed that she did not have any alcohol or drugs of abuse in her system (R. pp. 343-44) and his claims were inconsistent with testimony from those who knew her that the victim did not use drugs and that she did not drink to excess;
- Although one would have expected to find a great deal of blood at the crime scene, in light of the stab wound, very little was found. This suggests that he cleaned the scene, in an effort to cover up the crime;
- The pathologist found symmetrical bruising on the victim's shoulders and arms that were consistent with someone holding her down. R. pp. 342-43;
- He lied to law enforcement about what he had done with the murder weapon and it has never been recovered;
- Although he claimed that he left the victim's SUV at the bus stop, it was not there and, despite exhaustive efforts to locate it, the Sheriff's Office has never been able to locate it;
- Appellant had a part-time job at a car auction;
- A very reasonable inference from this evidence is that he disposed of both the knife and the vehicle because they were incriminating of him;
- He fled the State before he could be arrested, see *Grant*, 275 S.C. at 407, 272 S.E.2d at 171; and,
- He lied in his custodial statement about where he was when he placed the 911 call. R. pp. 227-28; 381.

In light of this evidence, any error in introducing evidence of the CDV conviction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See *Bailey*, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584.

II. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion by allowing the State to introduce expert testimony from a qualified clinical psychologist that there is an increased risk of homicide for victims "in domestic violence relationships" when the victim has left in the past or is "in the process of attempting to leave" because (1) the expert testimony given in this case is

nothing more than a description of Battered Spouse Syndrome, and the General Assembly has codified the admissibility of Battered Spouse Syndrome in criminal cases, see § 17-23-170(A); (2) the testimony given is consistent with a number of post-*State v. Kromah* cases that have upheld the prosecution's introduction of analogous expert testimony in the field of child abuse dynamics; and (3) the probative value of this testimony was not substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect under Rule 403, SCRE.

Appellant's remaining argument is that the trial judge erroneously allowed the State to introduce the expert testimony of Dr. Alyssa Rheingold, a clinical psychologist with expertise in "the field of impact of trauma, domestic violence," that there is an increased risk of homicide for victims "in domestic violence relationships" when the victim has left in the past or is "in the process of attempting to leave." His contention is that "[t]he expert's testimony in this case is no more admissible than the profiling testimony in the recent case of [*State v. Huckabee*, 419 S.C. 414, 798 S.E.2d 584 (Ct. App. 2017), *cert. pending*]" because it is irrelevant and prejudicial. The State submits that the trial judge did not abuse her discretion because (1) the expert testimony given in this case is nothing more than a description of Battered Spouse Syndrome, and the General Assembly has codified the admissibility of evidence concerning Battered Spouse Syndrome in criminal cases in S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-170(A) (2003); (2) the testimony given is consistent with a number of post-*State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), cases that have upheld the prosecution's introduction of analogous expert testimony in the field of child abuse dynamics because the expert did not interview any witness, she never commented on the credibility of any prosecution witness, she did not comment on Appellant's culpability or attribute any criminal conduct to him, she was unaware of the facts of the case, and she did not make any statements that the Court in *Kromah* found were improper; and (3) the probative value of this testimony was not substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect under Rule 403,

SCRE. Finally, to the extent that the Court finds that it was error to admit this testimony, the State submits that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

A. Proceedings at trial.

1. Appellant's *in camera* objection and the trial judge's ruling.

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